

United States Government Accountability Office Report to Congressional Requesters

May 2020

U.S. ASSISTANCE TO MEXICO

State Department Could Improve Its Monitoring of Mérida Initiative Projects



Highlights of GAO-20-388, a report to congressional requesters

Why GAO Did This Study

The Mérida Initiative is a bilateral U.S.-Mexico partnership to address crime and violence and enhance the rule of law in Mexico. Through this initiative, managed by State/INL and USAID, the United States has provided a wide range of assistance, including training and equipment. Since fiscal year 2008, U.S. funding for the Mérida Initiative has totaled about \$3 billion. GAO has identified key practices for monitoring foreign assistance programs that agencies should implement to address impediments, effectively manage foreign assistance, and meet assistance goals. These practices are generally consistent with policies of State, USAID, and the Office of Management and Budget.

GAO was asked to review issues related to Mérida Initiative implementation and objectives. This report examines the extent to which State/INL and USAID follow key practices in monitoring Mérida Initiative projects and track project performance against established measures. GAO reviewed State and USAID documents and data for a nongeneralizable sample of 20 highdollar value projects, and interviewed officials from State; USAID; and other U.S. agencies in Washington, D.C., and Mexico City.

What GAO Recommends

GAO is making two recommendations, including that State establish procedures to verify monitoring staff follow key practices, and that USAID ensure that monitoring plans address risks. State and USAID concurred with GAO's recommendations.

View GAO-20-388. For more information, contact Chelsa Kenney Gurkin at (202) 512-2964 or gurkinc@gao.gov.

U.S. ASSISTANCE TO MEXICO

State Department Could Improve Its Monitoring of Mérida Initiative Projects

What GAO Found

For the 15 Department of State (State) Bureau of International Narcotics and Law Enforcement Affairs (State/INL) projects GAO reviewed, State/INL generally followed key monitoring practices about half of the time. (See figure.) For example, State/INL almost always assigned staff with appropriate qualifications to monitor Mérida Initiative projects. However, for most projects, State/INL did not generally follow the key practices for developing monitoring plans that identify project goals and objectives and address risks to achieving them. Furthermore, State/INL did not consistently track project performance data. By establishing procedures for following key monitoring practices, State/INL would be better positioned to stay well informed of its projects' performance, take corrective action when necessary, and help ensure that projects achieve intended results.

For the five United States Agency for International Development (USAID) projects GAO reviewed, USAID almost always followed key monitoring practices and tracked performance data. USAID established procedures, such as periodic portfolio reviews, to ensure its staff consistently monitored projects. While USAID identified risks to implementing projects, it did not address those risks in its monitoring plans. (See figure.) Developing monitoring plans to address risks could help USAID determine the appropriate level of oversight for each Mérida Initiative project and manage monitoring resources more cost effectively.

Extent to Which State/INL and USAID Follow GAO Key Practices for Selected Mérida Initiative Projects



Source: GAO analysis of Department of State/Bureau of International Narcotics and Law Enforcement Affairs and U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID) documents. | GAO-20-388

Contents

| Letter | | 1 |
|--------------|---|----------|
| | Background | 3 |
| | For Projects We Reviewed, State Generally Followed Key Monitoring Practices About Half of the Time, but Did Not Consistently Track Performance Measures | 6 |
| | For Projects We Reviewed, USAID Almost Always Followed Key Monitoring Practices and Tracked Performance Data, but Did | |
| | Not Develop Monitoring Plans That Address Risk Mexico Shares Indicator Data with State/INL for Monitoring the Efforts Related to the Mérida Initiative | 16 |
| | Conclusions | 23 24 |
| | Recommendations for Executive Action | 25 |
| | Agency Comments | 25 |
| Appendix I | Objectives, Scope, and Methodology | 28 |
| Appendix II | Selected State/INL and USAID Mérida Initiative Projects Assessed | |
| | against Key Monitoring Practices | 33 |
| Appendix III | Comments from the Department of State | 35 |
| Appendix IV | Comments from the U.S. Agency for International Development | 37 |
| Appendix V | GAO Staff Acknowledgments | 41 |
| Tables | | |
| | Table 1: GAO's Key Practices for Monitoring Foreign Assistance Projects | 6 |
| | Table 2: Examples of State/INL Mérida Initiative Project Performance Measures and Information in Related | |

13

Quarterly Progress Reports (Fiscal Years 2018-2019)

| Table 3: Examples of State/INL Mérida Initiative Project | |
|--|----|
| Performance Measures and Information in Related Quarterly Progress Reports (Fiscal Years 2018-2019) | 14 |
| Table 4: Examples of USAID Mérida Initiative Project Performance | 14 |
| Measures and Information in Related Progress Reports | |
| (Fiscal Years 2018-2019) | 22 |
| Table 5: Examples of Mérida Initiative Indicators Provided by | |
| Mexico to the United States | 24 |
| Table 6: Selected State, Bureau of International Narcotics and | |
| Law Enforcement Affairs (State/INL) Mérida Initiative | |
| Projects | 33 |
| Table 7: Selected United States Agency for International | |
| Development (USAID) Mérida Initiative Projects | 34 |
| | |

Figures

| Figure 1: Extent to Which State/INL Followed Key Practices in Monitoring Selected Mérida Projects Figure 2: Extent to Which State/INL Followed Key Practices for | 7 |
|--|----|
| Assigning Monitoring Duties to Qualified Staff in Selected Mérida Projects | 9 |
| Figure 3: Extent to Which State/INL Followed Key Practices for Planning Monitoring Approach in Selected Mérida | |
| Projects | 10 |
| Figure 4: Extent to Which State/INL Followed Key Practices for Monitoring Project Implementation in Selected Mérida | |
| Projects | 11 |
| Figure 5: Extent to Which USAID Followed Key Practices in Monitoring Selected Mérida Projects | 17 |
| Figure 6: Extent to Which USAID Followed Key Practices for | |
| Assigning Monitoring Duties to Qualified Staff in Selected Mérida Projects | 18 |
| Figure 7: Extent to Which USAID Followed Key Practices for Planning Monitoring Approach in Selected Mérida | |
| Projects | 20 |
| Figure 8: Extent to Which USAID Followed Key Practices in | |
| Selected Projects for Monitoring Project Implementation | 21 |
| | |

Abbreviations

| AOR | Agreement Officer Representative |
|------------|---|
| COR | Contracting Officer Representative |
| DevResults | State/INL monitoring database |
| DHS | Department of Homeland Security |
| DOD | Department of Defense |
| DOJ | Department of Justice |
| GOR | Grant Officer Representative |
| State | Department of State |
| State/INL | State Bureau of International Narcotics and Law |
| | Enforcement Affairs |
| USAID | U.S. Agency for International Development |

This is a work of the U.S. government and is not subject to copyright protection in the United States. The published product may be reproduced and distributed in its entirety without further permission from GAO. However, because this work may contain copyrighted images or other material, permission from the copyright holder may be necessary if you wish to reproduce this material separately.

U.S. GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILITY OFFICE

441 G St. N.W. Washington, DC 20548

May 12, 2020

Congressional Requesters

Crime and violence perpetrated by transnational criminal organizations continue to raise security concerns on both sides of the U.S-Mexico border. A 2019 Congressional Research Service report estimates that more than 150,000 people have been killed in Mexico as a result of organized crime since 2006.¹ U.S. drug demand, bulk cash smuggling, and weapons smuggling from the United States have fueled this violence. Furthermore, fighting among criminal groups in Mexico intensified after the extradition of drug kingpin Joaquin "El Chapo" Guzman in 2017 prompted battles between rival cartels to supply rising U.S. demand for heroin and other opioids.²

In October 2007, the United States and Mexico created the Mérida Initiative and, in doing so, committed to working together to address crime and violence, and enhance the rule of law in Mexico. Through this bilateral partnership, the United States has funded Mérida Initiative projects broadly related to the four pillars of the initiative—combating transnational criminal organizations, rule of law and human rights, border security, and building strong and resilient communities—with the goals of mitigating the effects of the drug trade on the United States and reducing violence in Mexico. Since fiscal year 2008, the United States has allocated about \$3 billion for assistance for Mexico under the Mérida Initiative.

You asked us to review issues related to Mérida Initiative implementation and objectives. This report (1) examines the extent to which the Department of State (State), Bureau of International Narcotics and Law Enforcement Affairs (State/INL) follows key practices in monitoring Mérida Initiative projects and tracks project performance data against established measures; (2) examines the extent to which the United States Agency for International Development (USAID) follows key practices in monitoring Mérida Initiative projects and tracks project performance data against established measures; and (3) describes how State/INL uses data from

¹Congressional Research Service: *Mexico: Organized Crime and Drug Trafficking Organizations* (Washington, D.C.: Dec. 20, 2019).

²Congressional Research Service: *Mexico: Background and U.S. Relations* (Washington, D.C.: May 2, 2019).

the Government of Mexico to help monitor the implementation of Mérida Initiative projects.

To address these objectives, we reviewed relevant State and USAID documents and interviewed agency officials from State, USAID, and the Departments of Defense (DOD), Homeland Security (DHS), and Justice (DOJ) in Washington, D.C., and officials from State and USAID in Mexico City. To determine the extent to which State/INL and USAID followed key practices in monitoring Mérida Initiative projects, we selected a nongeneralizable sample of 15 high–dollar value State/INL projects and five high–dollar value USAID projects that started between January 1, 2014, and December 31, 2016, some of which were still ongoing as of September 30, 2019, or later.³ The value of the 15 State projects in our sample is about \$107 million.⁴ Because State/INL implemented about 90 percent of Mérida Initiative projects during this period, we chose a larger State/INL sample than a USAID sample.

We assessed the agencies' monitoring of these 20 projects against eight key project monitoring practices, largely derived from leading practices for monitoring foreign assistance that GAO had previously identified.⁵ On the basis of our review, we assessed whether the key practices were

⁵GAO, Foreign Assistance: Federal Monitoring and Evaluation Guidelines Incorporate Most but Not All Leading Practices, GAO-19-466 (Washington, D.C.: July 31, 2019).

³Although agencies use different terms to describe agencies' assistance—including "programs," "projects," and "activities"—we use the term "projects" to refer to assistance funded by the key U.S. agencies and that are implemented directly by U.S. agencies or through awards made to project implementers, which include contractors, international organizations, and grantees. In general, the term project refers to a set of activities that are designated and executed over a specified time frame to achieve a specific aim.

⁴We selected 15 of 125 State/INL projects that started between January 1, 2014, and December 31, 2016. These projects represent about 25 percent of the total value of State/INL projects initiated during this period. These high–dollar value projects were implemented through two letters of agreement with international organizations, four grants, three contracts, and six interagency agreements implemented by DOD, DHS, or DOJ. We excluded local contracts, personal service contracts, contracts for equipment, and grants for travel and logistics. While the highest–dollar value interagency agreements were implemented by DOJ, we also included high–dollar value projects implemented by DOD and DHS, so that all three agencies were represented in our sample. After these exclusions and considerations, these projects represented the 15 highest–dollar value projects among these types of agreements. We also selected five of 21 USAID projects that started between January 1, 2014, and December 31, 2016. These projects represent about 70 percent of the total value of USAID projects that were initiated during this period and were implemented through the highest–dollar value contracts and grants/cooperative agreements.

"generally followed," "partially followed," or "not followed." We rated the extent to which the agency followed each key practice as "generally followed" if we received evidence that all critical elements of the key practice were conducted and documented to a large or full extent, "partially followed" if we received evidence that some but not all critical elements of the key practice were conducted and documented, and "not followed" if we did not receive evidence that any of the critical elements of the key practice were conducted and documented. To determine the extent to which State/INL and USAID track project performance, we chose a nongeneralizable subset of the 20 projects listed above. Specifically, we chose a smaller sample of six projects—four from State/INL and two from USAID—primarily based on their high-dollar values. We reviewed these projects' latest year of quarterly and annual progress reports to assess the extent to which State/INL and USAID tracked data on performance measures in these reports. These performance measures were established in other monitoring documents (e.g., monitoring plans and project narratives) in accordance with one of the key monitoring practices.

To describe the type of Government of Mexico data State/INL uses to monitor Mérida Initiative implementation, we reviewed data related to Mérida Initiative projects collected by the Government of Mexico and shared with State/INL.

We conducted this performance audit from November 2018 to May 2020 in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate evidence to provide a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives. We believe that the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives.

Background

Mérida Initiative Projects There were 445 State/INL and USAID Mérida Initiative projects active from fiscal year 2014 through fiscal year 2018, which includes some projects that started before this period and some that continued after this period. State/INL funded 388 of the projects, and USAID funded 57. USAID's projects tended to be larger with higher funding amounts than State/INL projects. State/INL projects generally focused on providing training and assistance to Mexican officials from the justice sector, border security, military, and law enforcement, as well as equipment, including

| | for forensic laboratories, drug detection, and border surveillance. USAID projects were intended to engage with Mexican government institutions, civil society organizations, and the private sector to address corruption, promote trust in government, or prevent crime and violence, such as through skill building for youth, efforts to advance human rights, or technical support for judicial system development. State/INL allocated about \$542 million and USAID allocated about \$182 million for assistance to Mexico under the Mérida Initiative from fiscal year 2014 through fiscal year 2018. ⁶ |
|-----------------------------|---|
| Mérida Initiative Oversight | State/INL and USAID are the lead U.S. agencies for developing the Mérida Initiative's programming. In these roles, State/INL and USAID work with Government of Mexico officials to outline plans, goals, and objectives for Mérida Initiative projects. State/INL and USAID both manage and fund the Mérida Initiative with the support of a wide range of project implementers, including DOJ, DHS, and DOD, as well as private contractors, nongovernmental organizations, and international organizations. ⁷ State/INL and USAID implement Mérida Initiative projects primarily through contracts, grants, and agreements with international organizations. State/INL also implements some Mérida Initiative projects through interagency agreements with other U.S. agencies (e.g., DOJ, DHS, and DOD). |
| | State/INL and USAID contracting, grant, and agreement officers, are responsible for administering and overseeing contracts, grants, and other agreements that the agencies award, including for Mérida Initiative projects. They delegate the day-to-day monitoring responsibilities to agency officials located in Mexico City, particularly State/INL and USAID Contracting Officer Representatives (COR) for contracts, State/INL Grant Officer Representatives (GOR) for grants, State/INL Agreement Officer Representatives (AOR) for interagency agreements or letters of agreement with international organizations, and USAID AORs for grants and cooperative agreements, according to agency officials. Key monitoring responsibilities of the CORs, GORs, and AORs typically include reviewing quarterly, annual, and other progress reports submitted by project implementers; ensuring other required documents are |
| | ⁶ GAO, U.S. Assistance to Mexico: State and USAID Allocated over \$700 Million to |

⁶GAO, U.S. Assistance to Mexico: State and USAID Allocated over \$700 Million to Support Criminal Justice, Border Security, and Related Efforts from Fiscal Year 2014 through 2018, GAO-19-647 (Washington, D.C.: Sept. 10, 2019).

 $^{^7\}text{We}$ reported on Mérida Initiative funding and projects in September 2019; see GAO-19-647.

submitted; communicating with the implementers on the status of assistance activities; and conducting site visits, among other things.

Key Practices for Monitoring Foreign Assistance Projects In 2019, we reported on 14 leading practices for monitoring foreign assistance that agencies should incorporate in their monitoring policies to help ensure that they effectively manage foreign assistance, address impediments, and meet their assistance goals.⁸ From these leading practices we derived eight key practices that can help agencies monitor the implementation and performance at the project level.⁹ To facilitate discussing these key monitoring practices, we grouped them into three areas: (1) assigning monitoring duties to qualified staff, (2) planning monitoring approach, and (3) monitoring project implementation. (See table 1.) These practices are generally consistent with the Office of Management and Budget's guidelines for Federal departments and agencies that administer United States foreign assistance and related guidance, as well as State's and USAID's monitoring policies.¹⁰

⁸See GAO-19-466.

⁹To derive the eight key monitoring practices, we identified those practices that relate to monitoring ongoing projects, consolidated some of the practices, and omitted others that were not directly relevant to our review. For more information on adjustments made to the key practices, see app. I.

¹⁰We determined that most of the eight key practices were reflected in Office of Management and Budget's guidance to agencies related to implementing foreign assistance, including the 2018 Monitoring and Evaluation Guidelines for Federal Departments and Agencies that Administer United States Foreign Assistance (M-18-04), OMB Circular A-123 - Management's Responsibility for Internal Control. See GAO-19-466. Furthermore, we determined that State and USAID had generally addressed the eight key monitoring practices in their monitoring policies. See GAO, *Foreign Assistance: Selected Agencies' Monitoring and Evaluation Policies Generally Address Leading Practices* (GAO-16-861R).

| Key practice | Definition |
|---|---|
| Assigning Monitoring Duties to Qualified Staff | |
| Establish roles and responsibilities of personnel responsible for monitoring | Establish roles and responsibilities of personnel monitoring the project. |
| Assign staff with appropriate qualifications for monitoring | Establish requirements for staff responsible for monitoring project to have relevant knowledge, skills, and training. |
| Planning Monitoring Approach | |
| Develop monitoring plan with project goals and objectives | Develop agency-wide monitoring plans with defined project goals, objectives, timetables, and requirements for tracking performance information. |
| Develop monitoring plan to address risk | Develop monitoring plans that identify, assess, and mitigate risk related to achieving program/project objectives. |
| Develop relevant project-level performance measures | Describe means to assess the project by establishing performance goals and output and outcome measures. |
| Monitoring Project Implementation | |
| Periodically collect monitoring reports from implementing partners | Collect, review, and analyze performance reports provided by the implementing partner in accordance with the terms of the assistance agreement. |
| Assess and approve implementing partners' periodic performance reports | Assess and approve implementing partners' periodic performance reports. Assessments should recommend project adjustments, if necessary. |
| Validate implementing partners' performance through site visits and other means of verification | Validate implementing partners' performance through site visits or other means of verification. |

Source: Foreign Assistance: Federal Monitoring and Evaluation Guidelines Incorporate Most but Not All Leading Practices (GAO-19-466) | GAO-20-388

For Projects We Reviewed, State Generally Followed Key Monitoring Practices About Half of the Time, but Did Not Consistently Track Performance Measures We reviewed 15 of State/INL's high–dollar value Mérida Initiative projects to assess the extent to which State/INL followed key practices for monitoring foreign assistance projects in the areas of assigning monitoring duties to qualified staff, planning a monitoring approach, and

monitoring project implementation.¹¹ For these projects, the agency generally followed the key practices about half of the time, as shown in figure 1, and for a subset of four selected projects, it did not consistently track performance data or compare them to established performance measures.¹² State/INL does not have procedures in place for monitoring staff to consistently follow all the key practices. Instead, officials said they focused on tracking implementation of the projects' activities. Consistently following key monitoring practices would allow State/INL to stay well informed of projects performance, take corrective action when necessary, and help ensure that projects achieve their intended results.





Source: GAO analysis of Department of State/Bureau of International Narcotics and Law Enforcement Affairs documents. | GAO-20-388

Note: We rated the extent to which the agency followed each key practice as "generally followed" if we received evidence that all critical elements of the key practice were conducted and documented to a large or full extent, "partially followed" if we received evidence that some but not all critical elements of the key practice were conducted and documented, and "not followed" if we did not receive evidence that any of the critical elements of the key practice were conducted and documented.

¹¹See app. II for details on these projects.

¹²State generally followed the key monitoring practices in 63 out of 120 instances or about half of the time.

For Projects We Reviewed, State Generally Followed Key Monitoring Practices about Half of the Time

Assigning Monitoring Duties to Qualified Staff

State/INL generally followed key practices for assigning monitoring duties to qualified staff almost always. Assigning staff with the appropriate certification helps ensure that they have the necessary knowledge and skills to perform those duties. Establishing roles and responsibilities helps ensure that the assigned monitoring staff are aware of their monitoring duties. State/INL requires that staff responsible for monitoring Mérida Initiative projects be certified as a COR, GOR, or AOR. State/INL also assigns roles and responsibilities to monitoring staff through a designation letter in which a contract or grant officer designates a COR, GOR, or AOR to oversee each project. However, of the 15 projects we reviewed, one had a gap in the documentation for staff certifications, and four had gaps in the documentation of designation letters. For example, in one case State/INL could not provide documentation to demonstrate that the official responsible for monitoring a project on police training had been officially designated or that the official had a valid certification during the full implementation period of the project. According to State/INL staff, the monitoring staff roles and responsibilities are also outlined in other documents such as the State Department's Foreign Affairs Manual and the AOR Handbook, of which staff are expected to be aware. Figure 2 illustrates the extent to which State/INL followed each related key practice for assigning monitoring duties.



Figure 2: Extent to Which State/INL Followed Key Practices for Assigning Monitoring Duties to Qualified Staff in Selected Mérida Projects

Source: GAO analysis of Department of State/Bureau of International Narcotics and Law Enforcement Affairs documents. | GAO-20-388

Note: We rated the extent to which the agency followed each key practice as "generally followed" if we received evidence that all critical elements of the key practice were conducted and documented to a large or full extent, "partially followed" if we received evidence that some but not all critical elements of the key practice were conducted and documented, and "not followed" if we did not receive evidence that any of the critical elements of the key practice were conducted and documented.

Planning Monitoring Approach

State/INL generally followed key practices for planning a monitoring approach a third of the time. Two projects—one for helicopter pilot training and the other for aviation maintenance training-did not have monitoring plans and thus did not meet any of the three key practices for planning a monitoring approach. According to a State/INL manager, State/INL is no longer working with this implementer due to long-standing difficulties in obtaining documentation needed to monitor the projects. Most of the other 13 projects partially met the key practices for planning a monitoring approach. For example, goals and objectives were included in planning documents other than the monitoring plan. Furthermore, while only three of the projects had a monitoring plan that addressed risk, we determined that 10 of the projects partially addressed this key practice. because risks were assessed or considered, but the identified risks were not addressed in the monitoring plan. In addition, almost all of the projects had relevant project-level performance measures. Developing a monitoring plan that identifies project objectives helps focus monitoring efforts on assessing projects outcomes. In addition, identifying and addressing risks in that plan helps focus monitoring efforts on those aspects of project implementation that are most likely to threaten the success of the project in meeting its goals. We did not see evidence that State/INL had procedures in place to ensure that monitoring officials consistently follow key practices in the area of planning monitoring approach. Figure 3 illustrates the extent to which State/INL followed each related key practice to planning a monitoring approach.





Source: GAO analysis of Department of State/Bureau of International Narcotics and Law Enforcement Affairs documents. | GAO-20-388

Note: We rated the extent to which the agency followed each key practice as "generally followed" if we received evidence that all critical elements of the key practice were conducted and documented to a large or full extent, "partially followed" if we received evidence that some but not all critical elements of the key practice were conducted and documented, and "not followed" if we did not receive evidence that any of the critical elements of the key practice were conducted and documented.

State/INL provided documentation to demonstrate that monitoring managers generally followed key practices for monitoring project implementation about half of the time. Monitoring project implementation helps ensure that projects are meeting their objectives, so that any necessary adjustments or corrective actions can be taken in a timely manner. We found that State/INL did not generally collect all expected progress reports from implementers for seven projects, and of those seven, it did not collect any reports for three projects. Furthermore, State/INL did not provide documentation for eight projects demonstrating that monitoring staff had generally assessed and approved implementers' periodic progress reports. We also found that for seven projects, State/INL did not provide documentation demonstrating that monitoring staff had generally conducted site or field monitoring visits or taken other steps to validate the partner's performance implementing the project. For example, for one project that provided training to Mexican immigration officers on the southern border, State/INL only provided one quarterly progress report of the four we requested for the period of our review. For this project, State/INL also did not provide documentation that monitoring staff had taken steps to review and approve the report or that they had conducted any monitoring site visits. A State/INL official explained that they requested the guarterly reports, but at times implementers did not submit them. Without implementing procedures to consistently collect. assess, and approve performance reports from implementers, monitoring staff may not have sufficient information to assess implementers'

Monitoring Project Implementation

performance and determine whether corrective actions are needed. We did not see evidence that State/INL had procedures in place to ensure that monitoring officials consistently follow key practices in the area of monitoring project implementation. Figure 4 illustrates the extent to which State/INL followed each related key practice for monitoring project implementation.

Figure 4: Extent to Which State/INL Followed Key Practices for Monitoring Project Implementation in Selected Mérida Projects



Source: GAO analysis of Department of State/Bureau of International Narcotics and Law Enforcement Affairs documents. | GAO-20-388

Note: We rated the extent to which the agency followed each key practice as "generally followed" if we received evidence that all critical elements of the key practice were conducted and documented to a large or full extent, "partially followed" if we received evidence that some but not all critical elements of the key practice were conducted and documented, and "not followed" if we did not receive evidence that any of the critical elements of the key practice were conducted and documented.

State/INL Did Not Consistently Track Performance Data against Established Measures for Projects We Reviewed State/INL monitoring officials did not consistently track performance data against established measures for four Mérida Initiative projects we reviewed; these four projects were a subset of the 15 State/INL projects discussed above. Tracking performance data—a key practice for monitoring project implementation—can provide meaningful information on projects' progress in achieving intended results. The four projects we reviewed included two grants focused on police professionalization; one interagency agreement focused on assistance to forensic laboratories; and one agreement with an international organization focused on conducting a survey on police standards, training, and professionalization.¹³ We reviewed how State/INL tracked performance data for these selected projects as part of its efforts to assess and approve implementing partners' periodic performance reports and data as outlined in the key monitoring practices. Specifically, we analyzed the

¹³These projects are not generalizable to all State/INL Mérida Initiative projects. For more information on how we selected our sample of four State/INL projects, see app. I. For details on these four projects, see app. II.

extent to which State/INL tracked data contained in quarterly progress reports and compared these data to established performance measures.¹⁴ State/INL and the project implementers outlined these performance measures in monitoring documents that these implementers developed and State/INL approved. Some of these projects' monitoring documents also included data sources, data collection frequency, and performance targets. State/INL did not track performance data for two of the four selected projects and tracked such data inconsistently for the other two selected projects. As a result, State/INL cannot ensure that it has accurate and reliable performance data for its Mérida Initiative projects. Such data could help State/INL determine whether projects are achieving intended results and take necessary corrective actions to improve project performance over time.

For the two police professionalization projects we reviewed, State/INL did not track performance data against established performance measures outlined in the project narrative at the start of the projects. Some of these projects' performance measures reflected outputs—such as the number of participants completing at least 25 hours of police training and the number of citizen surveys conducted on public trust of law enforcement. Other performance measures reflected outcomes—such as the percentage of law enforcement officials who feel ready for promotion after completing training and results of citizen surveys on perceived security where law enforcement trainings were conducted. (See examples in table 2.) However, State/INL did not clearly track or reference such performance measures in these two projects' quarterly progress reports. Instead, State/INL provided details in these reports on project activities and training that did not clearly link to the projects' performance measures. For example, State/INL noted the number of participants who took a specific training course on a certain date, but did not provide the total number of participants' training hours to compare them to the performance measure on the total number of participants who completed at least 25 hours of training. State/INL monitoring officials said they had not systematically tracked data on the performance measures of these projects over time, but instead focused on ensuring the trainings were conducted and the number of training participants were tracked. These officials acknowledged the need to improve their tracking of these projects' progress against their performance measures.

State/INL Did Not Track Performance Measures for Two of the Four State/INL Projects We Reviewed

¹⁴State/INL officials told us they drafted the progress reports for grants while project implementers drafted the progress reports for interagency agreements and agreements with international organizations.

| Table 2: Examples of State/INL Mérida Initiative Project Performance Measures and Information in Related Quarterly Progress | s |
|---|---|
| Reports (Fiscal Years 2018-2019) | |

| Examples of performance measure | Examples of information in quarterly progress reports | |
|---|---|--|
| Number of training participants completing at least 25 hours of police academy training (annual target of 40) | Number of people who attended a training course in a specific city on a specific date | |
| Percentage of law enforcement training participants who feel more ready for promotion (target of 85 percent) | Details on dates, locations, and content of trainings conducted | |
| Number of surveys in Chiapas conducted on public trust of law enforcement (target of 1,112) | No information on number of citizen surveys conducted in reports we reviewed | |

Source: GAO Analysis of Department of State, Bureau of International Narcotics and Law Enforcement Affairs (State/INL) documents GAO-20-388

We also identified information in quarterly progress reports for two projects suggesting that the reports did not accurately reflect project activities in those quarters. For example, for one project, State/INL included identical information in two separate quarterly reports even though the implementer conducted different project activities in those two quarters. Thus, at a minimum, the information in one of the quarterly reports did not accurately reflect the project's activities conducted in that quarter. We found the same issue with another project's reports. State/INL officials said they were not aware that the project information in these reports were identical.

State/INL Tracked Some Performance Measures for Two of the Four State/INL Projects We Reviewed, but Did So Inconsistently

For the two other State/INL projects we reviewed (one forensics laboratory accreditation project and one police survey project), State/INL tracked some performance data but did so inconsistently. These projects' performance measures reflected outputs, such as the number of survey pollsters hired and trained and the number of accredited forensic laboratories that maintain their accreditation. Other performance measures reflected outcomes, such as the percentage of forensic laboratories trainees reporting improved knowledge of subject matter and satisfaction rates for training courses for the forensics laboratory project. (See examples in table 3.) In one of these two projects' quarterly reports, the project implementers inconsistently described and numbered some of the performance measures, and they did not explain the discrepancies. Also, the implementers mentioned different performance measures in different quarterly progress reports-with some measures dropping off in some quarters and new measures appearing in others-without providing a rationale in the reports. As a result, State/INL could not consistently track progress of some of the performance measures over time. State/INL officials stated that these two implementers only included activities in the guarterly reports that they conducted in that guarter, which would result in different and inconsistent performance measures in each report.

In addition, some of the reported project activities did not consistently and clearly align with the performance measures to allow State/INL to track the project's progress against these measures. For example, some performance measures reflected percentages (e.g., 90 percent of authorities responsible for forensic laboratories routinely attend regional and national conferences), but the report listed the names of conference participants, dates, and locations in a table next to that performance measure. When asked about these discrepancies, State/ INL officials said that they did not ensure that implementers provided complete information to clearly track the project's progress against performance measures. However, they said that they also conduct monitoring through informal methods not documented in the progress reports, such as through communication via phone calls and emails with the implementers. Such informal methods do not provide State/INL with the necessary data to assess a project's performance against its goals.

Table 3: Examples of State/INL Mérida Initiative Project Performance Measures and Information in Related Quarterly Progress Reports (Fiscal Years 2018-2019)

| Examples of performance measures | Examples of information provided in quarterly progress reports |
|--|--|
| Number of survey pollsters hired (target is unclear) | No information on this number in reports we reviewed |
| All Mexican accredited forensic laboratories that maintain their accreditation (target of all Mexican accredited laboratories) | All Mexican states with accredited labs are in the process of maintaining accreditation, some of which will be in the next 2 quarters. List of 33 labs that have been reaccredited by Mexican state. |
| Overall satisfaction rate per training course for forensics laboratories project (target of 80 percent) | Description of training sessions that were held in a certain quarter and locations of these sessions. Narrative indicates that surveys are on file that show satisfaction with the courses. |

Source: GAO Analysis of Department of State, Bureau of International Narcotics and Law Enforcement Affairs (State/INL) documents GAO-20-388.

State/INL Monitoring Management Did Not Ensure Their Staff Tracked Performance Measures For the four State/INL projects we reviewed, State/INL monitoring managers did not establish procedures to collect and review project performance data, such as the number of people who completed a targeted number of hours of training, or the results of training surveys. These managers said they did not prioritize establishing performance tracking procedures and instead focused on the implementation of the projects' activities, such as counting the number of participants who attended one training course for a particular month. For example, while some monitoring staff sent monthly emails to their managers describing project activities, State/INL monitoring managers did not establish procedures—such as holding regular meetings with or requiring reporting

| | from monitoring staff—that focused on tracking the projects' progress against established performance measures. |
|---|---|
| State/INL Receives Activity Data from Implementers to Monitor Project Implementation | State/INL receives activity data from project implementers that it considers useful in helping the agency monitor the projects' implementation and activities. State/INL officials told us that project activity data in the quarterly progress reports—such as when trainings were conducted and how many people attended—help keep them informed of and monitor the projects' implementation. |
| | In addition, since 2015, State/INL Mexico has collected detailed data and information in tracking databases on (1) training events and related surveys on that training, and (2) forensic laboratory accreditations and correctional facility accreditations. ¹⁵ |
| | • The training tracking database contains data on over 6,000 training events, 100,000 trainee records, and over 20,000 survey responses from training event participants. This database can generate numerous reports covering the number of people who completed a specific trained course, which training courses a specific person completed, training survey results, and which implementer conducted the training, among other information. |
| | • State/INL databases also collect information on the status of forensics laboratories and correctional facilities across Mexico that are being accredited through Mérida Initiative projects. ¹⁶ The forensics database includes pages for each laboratory with detailed information about the level of accreditation received, and types of trainings conducted, among other things. The correctional facilities database is structured similarly to the laboratories database with pages for each facility with detailed information on accreditation status and timeline, among other things. According to State/INL officials, like the training tracking system, the forensics and correctional facilities databases can generate reports, such as monthly progress reports. |

¹⁵During fieldwork in Mexico City, we viewed features and screenshots of these databases.

¹⁶State/INL funds Mérida Initiative projects that focus on strengthening Mexican forensic laboratories and on improving the conditions of Mexican correctional facilities, both in compliance with international laboratories and correctional facilities accreditations.

Finally, State/INL Mexico is implementing a new cloud-based monitoring database—called *DevResults*—that will consolidate and track data on activity, output, and outcome indicators for all Mérida Initiative projects.¹⁷ According to State/INL officials, they implemented *DevResults* so that State/INL could track a project's progress and trends in real time against its performance goals. According to State/INL officials, *DevResults* included data for 84 projects as of February 2020. They also noted that agency officials and implementers have completed training on *DevResults*, and additional training will be provided as needed. State/INL officials said they plan to continue adding data for past and present Mérida Initiative projects in 2020.

For Projects We Reviewed, USAID Almost Always Followed Key Monitoring Practices and Tracked Performance Data, but Did Not Develop Monitoring Plans That Address Risk We reviewed five of USAID's Mérida Initiative projects to assess the extent to which USAID followed key monitoring practices in the areas of assigning monitoring duties to qualified staff, planning a monitoring approach, and monitoring project implementation.¹⁸ For these projects, USAID almost always followed key practices—as shown in figure 5—and for a subset of two selected projects, it consistently tracked project performance.¹⁹ According to USAID officials, USAID management conducted periodic portfolio reviews to ensure that monitoring staff adequately monitored Mérida Initiative projects and followed key practices. However, for all five USAID projects we reviewed, monitoring plans did not address identified risks, which could help the agency allocate monitoring resources to those aspects of the projects that warrant closer scrutiny.

¹⁷During fieldwork in Mexico City, we viewed features and screenshots of this database.

¹⁸See app. II for details on these projects.

¹⁹USAID generally followed the key practices in 30 out of 40 instances or almost always.





Source: GAO analysis of U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID) documents. | GAO-20-388

Note: We rated the extent to which the agency followed each key practice as "generally followed" if we received evidence that all critical elements of the key practice were conducted and documented to a large or full extent, "partially followed" if we received evidence that some but not all critical elements of the key practice were conducted and documented, and "not followed" if we did not receive evidence that any of the critical elements of the key practice were conducted and documented.

For Projects We Reviewed, USAID Almost Always Followed Key Monitoring Practices

Assigning Monitoring Duties to Qualified Staff USAID generally established roles and responsibilities for technical staff responsible for monitoring projects, but for two of the five projects we reviewed it did not maintain documentation showing that it assigned staff with appropriate certifications. Like State/INL, USAID requires that staff responsible for monitoring Mérida Initiative projects be certified as CORs or AORs, which typically includes periodic training in monitoring projects. USAID assigns roles and responsibilities to these staff through a designation letter in which a contract or agreement officer designates a COR or AOR, respectively, to conduct technical oversight of each project. For the five projects we reviewed, USAID properly designated monitoring roles and responsibilities to technical staff, however there were gaps in staff certification documentation for technical staff for two projects. For example, we found that the person responsible for monitoring a project promoting justice reform and rule of law in Mexico did not have a valid certificate for 9 months of the project's 4-year period of performance. Maintaining complete documentation of monitoring-related activities helps USAID management ensure adequate, continuous monitoring of projects. According to USAID, the gaps in documentation were caused by staff turnover and trouble accessing the government-wide system for recording the certificates was brought back online, they were able to track certifications. Figure 6 illustrates the extent to which USAID followed each related key practice for assigning monitoring duties.

Figure 6: Extent to Which USAID Followed Key Practices for Assigning Monitoring Duties to Qualified Staff in Selected Mérida Projects



Source: GAO analysis of U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID) documents. | GAO-20-388

Note: We rated the extent to which the agency followed each key practice as "generally followed" if we received evidence that all critical elements of the key practice were conducted and documented to a large or full extent, "partially followed" if we received evidence that some but not all critical elements of the key practice were conducted and documented, and "not followed" if we did not receive evidence that any of the critical elements of the key practice were conducted and documented.

Planning Monitoring Approach USAID generally developed monitoring plans that included program goals and objectives and project-level performance measures, but the monitoring plans did not address project risks. All five projects generally had a monitoring plan that identified project goals and objectives, and relevant project-level performance measures. However, none of the monitoring plans generally addressed identified risks related to achieving project objectives. While USAID provided documentation showing that the agency had conducted various assessments considering risk for each project, the results of these assessments were not addressed in the projects' monitoring plans.²⁰ For example, for a project to promote justice and rule of law in Mexico, USAID assessed risks relating to terrorism, environmental effects, sustainability, and gender equity in carrying out the project. However, the project's monitoring plan did not address identified risk levels and related monitoring actions designed to mitigate risks identified in these assessments. USAID explained that they address ongoing monitoring of risk through several other processes, such as project design, procurement actions, financial management, award management and administration, semi-annual project portfolio reviews, and annual risk-based assessments of the USAID's portfolio in Mexico, among others. However, identifying and addressing risks in the monitoring plan can help ensure that monitoring staff are aware of potential impediments to project success about which they need to be vigilant or take steps to mitigate as they monitor the projects. Additionally, determining which activities warrant greater oversight can also help agencies manage monitoring resources cost effectively. Figure 7 illustrates the extent to which USAID followed each related key practice for planning a monitoring approach.

²⁰Consistent with the key practice to "develop a monitoring plan to address risk," USAID risk management guidance indicates that project-level monitoring plans should capture potential risks and USAID's responses. Specifically, according to USAID's Technical Note: Enterprise Risk Management in the Program Cycle, July 2019, "project and activity monitoring, evaluation, and learning plans…capture potential risks to achieving project and activity results, and [USAID's] strategic and intentional responses. Effective monitoring, evaluation, and learning approaches are particularly important to support necessary risk related to program and activity implementation, for example, when working in nonpermissive environments or with local partners that have never worked with USAID before."





Source: GAO analysis of U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID) documents. | GAO-20-388

Note: We rated the extent to which the agency followed each key practice as "generally followed" if we received evidence that all critical elements of the key practice were conducted and documented to a large or full extent, "partially followed" if we received evidence that some but not all critical elements of the key practice were conducted and documented, and "not followed" if we did not receive evidence that any of the critical elements of the key practice were conducted and documented.

USAID generally followed key practices for monitoring project implementation about two-thirds of the time. We found that USAID collected all progress reports for four of the five projects we reviewed. For two projects, USAID did not provide documentation demonstrating that monitoring staff had generally assessed and approved implementers' periodic progress reports. For all five projects, USAID provided documentation demonstrating that monitoring staff had generally validated implementing partners' performance through site visits. Figure 8 illustrates the extent to which USAID followed each related key practice for monitoring project implementation.

Monitoring Project Implementation





Note: We rated the extent to which the agency followed each key practice as "generally followed" if we received evidence that all critical elements of the key practice were conducted and documented to a large or full extent, "partially followed" if we received evidence that some but not all critical elements of the key practice were conducted and documented, and "not followed" if we did not receive evidence that any of the critical elements of the key practice were conducted and documented.

USAID Consistently Tracked Established Performance Measures for the Two Projects We Reviewed USAID monitoring officials consistently tracked performance data and compared them to established performance measures for the two projects we reviewed; these two projects were a subset of the five USAID projects discussed above. To review the extent to which USAID assessed and approved implementing partners' periodic reports and data—one of the eight key monitoring practices—we determined whether USAID tracked performance data contained in quarterly or annual progress reports. USAID funds one of the two projects through a cooperative agreement focused on strengthening human rights, and the other project through a contract focused on improving the criminal justice sector.²¹

USAID and project implementers outlined these projects' performance measures in project-specific monitoring plans that both parties developed at the start of the project or revised after the project was in place. Project implementers developed these plans, and USAID approved them. The plans included details related to the performance measures, such as data sources, data collection frequency, and targets. In accordance with these plans, USAID and project implementers tracked performance measures in annual progress reports, while they primarily tracked detailed project activity in quarterly progress reports.

²¹The two projects are not generalizable to all USAID Mérida Initiative projects. For more information on how we selected our sample of two USAID projects, see app. I. For details on these two projects, see app. II.

The two USAID projects' progress reports included tables that tracked project performance. Some of the projects' performance measures reflected outcomes, such as prosecution rates of Mexican government prosecution units that received technical support and the number of improved measures to address serious human rights violations. Some performance measures reflected outputs, such as the number of Mexican officials trained in human rights advocacy areas.²² See table 4 for examples of performance measures and information in the progress reports we reviewed.

 Table 4: Examples of USAID Mérida Initiative Project Performance Measures and Information in Related Progress Reports

 (Fiscal Years 2018-2019)

| Examples of performance measure | Examples of information in progress reports | |
|--|---|--|
| Percentage of plea agreements in targeted specialized investigation units (target of 90 percent) | Prosecution rates reported for four Mexican states for 2015 and for five Mexican states for 2016 and 2017 2015 through 2017 | |
| Prosecution rates in targeted investigation and prosecution units (target 20 percent increase every 2 years) | Prosecution rates reported for five Mexican states from 2015 through 2017 | |
| Number of Mexican federal and state officials trained in human rights advocacy topics (target of 330) | Total number of Mexican federal and state officials trained through 3rd year of project | |

Source: GAO Analysis of United States Agency for International Development (USAID) documents GAO-20-388.

When the implementer and USAID changed performance measures, they also revised project-specific monitoring plans to document these changes. For example, for one project we reviewed, the established measures were no longer effective in measuring progress toward the project's objectives, according to USAID officials. As a result, the implementer and USAID modified the project's monitoring plan at least twice, revising the performance measures to better align with the project's objectives. The subsequent progress reports we reviewed for these projects included data on the revised performance measures.

USAID has procedures to help ensure that monitoring staff track performance data. According to USAID officials, USAID began sending out a standard spreadsheet to all Mérida Initiative implementing partners in 2018 that requires them to report performance data on a quarterly or annual basis. USAID uses these spreadsheets to track Mérida Initiative project performance data. Since May 2017, USAID has also conducted 6month portfolio reviews in which monitoring managers and their staff

²²Project outputs are the direct products and services delivered by a project. In contrast, project outcomes are the results of a project's products and services. GAO, *Performance Measurement and Evaluation, Definitions and* Relationships, GAO-11-646SP (Washington, D.C.: May 2011).

| | review project activities and performance data collected for their projects and discuss project successes and challenges. USAID managers told us that they implemented these reviews to help ensure that their staff monitor project performance. |
|--|---|
| Mexico Shares Indicator Data with State/INL for Monitoring the Efforts Related to the Mérida Initiative | According to State/INL, the Government of Mexico provides data to State/INL that help the agency monitor its Mérida Initiative assistance efforts and provides insights into the implementation of the initiative overall. State/INL also noted that, in 2014, the agency hired a contractor to work with both the U.S. and Mexican governments to develop a comprehensive set of indicators to evaluate the progress and results of the Mérida Initiative. In 2015, Mexico agreed that it would provide data to State/INL on this set of indicators to demonstrate the effects of the Mérida Initiative, according to State/INL officials. These officials told us that they try to obtain the data on an annual basis. They also noted that the purpose of collecting the data from Mexico was to establish a mechanism to share information on the Mérida Initiative's effects and to improve U.S Mexico cooperation on the initiative. According to State/INL officials, various Mexican agencies collect the data, such as the Army, Air Force, Navy, Tax Administration Service/Customs, Attorney General's Office, and National Institute of Statistics and Geography. The Mexico data comprise about 170 indicators (data points) related to the overall goals and program areas of the Mérida Initiative: Counternarcotics/Special Investigations, Criminal Prosecutions, Border Security and Ports of Entry, and Security and Law Enforcement. Some data are closely linked to Mérida Initiative–funded projects, such as the accreditation status of Mexican correctional facilities. Other data provide broader context, such as Mexican civil society's perception of Mexican agencies. In addition, data, such as the number of accredited forensic laboratories and correctional facilities, may reflect operational capacity development. See table 5 below for examples of the indicators, as |
| | reported by Mexico to State/INL. ²³ |

 $^{^{23}\}mbox{We}$ are not reporting on all of these indicators in detail in this report because some of this information is classified.

| Program area | Indicator |
|--|--|
| Security and Law Enforcement | Number of Mexican states with at least one forensic laboratory that has been accredited in at least one discipline |
| Security and Law Enforcement | Total number of federal corrections training academies and institutions that meet American Correctional Association accreditation standards (cumulative) |
| Counternarcotics and Special Investigations | Percentage of people with high- or medium-level of trust in federal investigative agencies |
| Counternarcotics and Special Investigations | Number of accounts blocked by Mexican Financial Intelligence Unit |
| Border Security and Ports of Entry | U.S. dollar value of nonintrusive inspection equipment transferred |

Source: Department of State, Bureau of International Narcotics and Law Enforcement Affairs (State/INL) GAO-20-388.

State/INL officials said they use the indicator data in discussions with Mexican officials to help monitor the implementation and activities of the Mérida Initiative, including which best practices can be replicated across Mexico. State/INL officials said the data also inform the agency's internal decision making on which Mérida Initiative programs are effective and which programs it should modify. For example, according to State/INL officials, the indicator data help track the use of equipment donated to Mexico through the Mérida Initiative. If the data show extensive use of equipment, State/INL can use the data to justify a request for additional equipment or to approve maintenance of the equipment, according to agency officials.

Conclusions

For over a decade, the Mérida Initiative has funded programs intended to address serious challenges to security and the rule of law. As the United States continues to support hundreds of Mérida Initiative projects in Mexico, it is important that State/INL monitor these projects carefully and stay well informed of the projects' performance to ensure that they are as effective as possible. USAID has established procedures that help ensure that it follows most key monitoring practices, including those related to assigning monitoring duties to qualified staff and monitoring project implementation. State/INL management has not established such procedures for the projects we reviewed, limiting its ability to stay well informed of project performance and make course corrections to improve performance when necessary. While State/INL and USAID often conducted assessments to identify risks that may affect the achievement of project objectives, they generally did not address the results of the risk assessments in projects' monitoring plans. Developing monitoring plans to address risks would help establish the appropriate level of oversight

| | needed for each project, which in turn could lead to more cost-effective management of these projects. |
|---|---|
| Recommendations for Executive Action | We are making the following two recommendations, one to State and one to USAID: |
| | The Secretary of State should ensure that State/INL establishes procedures that verify that monitoring officials for Mérida Initiative projects follow the key practices. (Recommendation 1) |
| | The USAID Administrator should establish procedures to ensure that monitoring officials for Mérida Initiative projects develop monitoring plans that address risks. (Recommendation 2) |
| Agency Comments | We provided a draft of this report to State, DOD, DHS, DOJ, and USAID for review and comment. Some of the agencies provided technical comments, which we incorporated as appropriate. State and USAID also provided formal comments, which are reproduced in appendixes III and IV. |
| | State agreed with our recommendation to establish procedures for staff monitoring Mérida Initiative projects to follow key practices. State indicated that it is working to create new monitoring and evaluation guidance consolidated across State/INL, based in part on GAO's leading practices. According to State, the new guidance will address the areas highlighted in this report related to monitoring Mérida Initiative projects. State/INL plans to institute annual program reviews in which monitoring staff will assess project performance, effects, and alignment with current and planned priorities. State indicated that annually reviewing State/INL programming will help identify underperforming projects, give relevant staff a forum to discuss any issues or challenges to implementation and monitoring, and ensure the bureau follows the key monitoring practices outlined in this report. |
| | USAID also agreed with our recommendation to establish procedures to ensure that staff monitoring Merida Initiative projects develop monitoring plans that address risk. USAID indicated that USAID/Mexico is revising its Project and Activity Design Mission Order to incorporate recently issued USAID guidance and address our recommendation. According to USAID, the mission order will provide a framework and guidance to ensure that USAID/Mexico systematically addresses project risks and incorporates them into the respective monitoring plan. |

We are sending copies of this report to the appropriate congressional committees, the Secretary of State, and the USAID Administrator. In addition, the report will be available at no charge on the GAO website at http://www.gao.gov.

If you or your staff have any questions about this report, please contact me at (202) 512-2964 or GurkinC@gao.gov. Contact points for our Offices of Congressional Relations and Public Affairs may be found on the last page of this report. GAO staff who made contributions to this report are listed in appendix V.

Chefsa gunh

Chelsa Kenney Gurkin Director, International Affairs and Trade

List of Requesters

The Honorable Ron Johnson Chairman The Honorable Gary C. Peters Ranking Member Committee on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs United States Senate

The Honorable Michael McCaul Ranking Member Committee on Foreign Affairs House of Representatives

The Honorable Joaquin Castro Chairman Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations Committee on Foreign Affairs House of Representatives

The Honorable Albio Sires Chairman Subcommittee on Western Hemisphere, Civilian Security, and Trade Committee on Foreign Affairs House of Representatives

The Honorable Paul Cook House of Representatives

Appendix I: Objectives, Scope, and Methodology

This report (1) examines the extent to which the Department of State (State), Bureau of International Narcotics and Law Enforcement Affairs (State/INL), follows key practices in monitoring Mérida Initiative projects and tracks project performance data against established measures; (2) examines the extent to which the United States Agency for International Development (USAID) follows key practices in monitoring Mérida Initiative projects and tracks project performance data against established measures; and (3) describes how State/INL uses data from the Government of Mexico to help monitor the implementation of Mérida Initiative projects. To address these objectives, we reviewed relevant State and USAID agency documents and interviewed agency officials from the Departments of State (State), Homeland Security (DHS), Defense (DOD), and Justice (DOD), and USAID in Washington, D.C., and officials from State and USAID in Mexico City.

In 2019, we reported on 14 leading practices for monitoring foreign assistance that agencies should incorporate in their monitoring policies to help ensure that they effectively manage foreign assistance, address impediments, and meet their assistance goals.¹ From these leading practices, which are focused on a high-level assessment of agency monitoring policies, we derived eight key practices that can help agencies monitor the implementation and performance at the project level, such as those implemented under the Mérida Initiative. These eight key practices include those that in our judgment directly relate to monitoring projectlevel performance activities. We did not address monitoring of financial activities, because our review focused on performance monitoring. We made minor modifications to the key practices selected to reflect the focus of our review. We also grouped the selected key monitoring practices into three areas: (1) assigning monitoring duties to qualified staff, (2) planning a monitoring approach, and (3) monitoring project implementation.

To determine the extent to which State/INL and USAID followed key practices in monitoring Mérida Initiative projects, we selected a nongeneralizable sample of 15 high–dollar value State/INL projects and five high–dollar value USAID projects that started between January 1, 2014, and December 31, 2016. (See app. II for details on these 20 projects). Some of these projects were ongoing after fiscal year 2019. We selected the projects from a list provided by State/INL and USAID. State's

¹GAO, Foreign Assistance: Federal Monitoring and Evaluation Guidelines Incorporate Most but Not All Leading Practices, GAO-19-466 (Washington, D.C.: July 31, 2019).

list included 388 projects, and USAID's list included 57 projects for a total of 445 projects under the Mérida Initiative. We selected projects implemented through a variety of mechanisms. For State/INL, we selected two letters of agreement with international organizations, four grants, three contracts, and two interagency agreements implemented by DOD, two interagency agreements implemented by DHS, and two interagency agreements implemented by DOJ.² For USAID, we selected two contracts and three grants. The value of the 15 State projects in our sample is about \$88 million, and the value of the five USAID projects in our sample is about \$107 million. These 15 State/INL projects represent about 25 percent of the total value of the State/INL projects that started during this period. These five USAID projects were the highest value contracts and grants cooperative agreements and represent about 70 percent of the total value of USAID projects that started during this period. Because State/INL implements about 90 percent of all Mérida Initiative projects, we chose a larger State/INL sample than USAID sample.

We assessed the agencies' monitoring of the 20 selected Mérida Initiative projects against eight key monitoring practices largely derived from GAO's Leading Practices for Monitoring Foreign Assistance.³ We reviewed documents to determine the extent to which State/INL and USAID followed the eight key monitoring practices for each of the selected Mérida Initiative projects. Specifically, for each selected project, we requested monitoring plans; work plans; risk assessments; Contract, Grant, or Agreement Officer Representative Certificates; Contract, Grant, or Agreement Officers Representatives Designation Letters; implementer progress reports for the latest year of activity of each project (at the time of our review); samples of field or site visit reports; and samples of

³GAO-19-466.

²State/INL also uses other implementing mechanisms, such as personal service contracts and local contracts, both of which we excluded from our sample, because they were not used to implement the highest–dollar value State/INL projects. In addition, we excluded contracts primarily covering the purchase or maintenance of equipment, and grants for travel and logistics because we focused on projects with measurable performance measures and targets rather than the delivery of equipment or travel. While the highest–dollar value interagency agreements were implemented by DOJ, we also included high–dollar value projects implemented by DOD and DHS, so that all three agencies were represented in our sample. After these exclusions and considerations, we selected the 15 highest–dollar value projects among these types of agreements.

monitoring emails between monitoring staff and the implementers.⁴ We reviewed available documents as they related to each key practice to determine the extent to which the agency had taken steps to follow and document the key practice for each project.⁵

On the basis of our review, we assessed whether the key practices were "generally followed," "partially followed," or "not followed." We rated the extent to which the agency followed each key practice as "generally followed" if we received evidence that all critical elements of the key practice were conducted and documented to a large or full extent, "partially followed" if we received evidence that some but not all critical elements of the key practice were conducted and documented and documented, and "not followed" if we did not receive evidence that any of the critical elements of the key practice were conducted and documented. To perform these analyses, two analysts reviewed the documents to rate the extent to which each key practice was met. The analysts worked iteratively, comparing notes and reconciling differences at each stage of the analysis. In addition, GAO staff independent of the two analysts reviewed the final analysis, and modified it as appropriate.

To determine the extent State/INL and USAID track project performance, we chose a nongeneralizable subset of the 20 projects listed above. Specifically, we chose six projects—four State/INL projects and two USAID projects—primarily based on their high–dollar values. (See app. II for details on these six projects.) We chose a small subset of State/INL and USAID projects to conduct a detailed analysis of data in the projects' annual and quarterly reports. Specifically, for the four State/INL projects, we chose high–dollar value projects for each of the following implementing mechanisms: grants, interagency agreements, and agreements with international organizations. We excluded contracts from the State/INL subset sample, because the high–dollar value contracts generally did not have the project-level performance measures needed to assess State's tracking of performance data. We included a second grant in our sample in place of a contract, because more Mérida Initiative State/INL projects are grants than interagency agreements or agreements

⁵In some cases, the agency reported that the documents were not available, because they were missing or not submitted by implementers.

⁴State/INL and USAID require that staff responsible for monitoring Mérida Initiative projects be certified as Contract, Grant, or Agreement Officer Representatives,. State/INL and USAID assigns roles and responsibilities to monitoring staff through a designation letter in which a Contract Officer or Grant Officer designates a representative to oversee each project.

with international organizations. As a result, our State/INL sample consisted of two grants, one interagency agreement, and one agreement with an international organization. For the USAID sample, we chose one grant or cooperative agreement and one contract. We did not choose other types of implementing agreements because grants/cooperative agreements and contracts comprise over 98 percent of USAID projects for the timeframe of our review.

For both the State/INL and USAID selected projects, we reviewed project monitoring documents—such as project narratives, workplans, and monitoring plans—and identified the performance measures outlined in these documents for each project.⁶ We then reviewed these projects' latest year of implementer quarterly and annual progress reports (at the time of our review), and assessed the extent to which State/INL and USAID assessed and approved implementing partners' periodic performance reports and data in accordance with the key monitoring practice of assessing and approving performance information. We also met with State/INL and USAID monitoring officials in Washington, D.C., and Mexico to understand the process for how these officials track the performance of these selected projects, including in the projects' quarterly and annual reports. We also reviewed the reports to identify any discrepancies or errors.

To describe the type of Government of Mexico data that State/INL uses to monitor Mérida Initiative implementation, we reviewed data from fiscal years 2015-2018 related to Mérida Initiative projects collected by the Government of Mexico and shared with State/INL. We also met with State/INL officials in Washington, D.C., and Mexico City to discuss the data, including how it is used and its reliability. After our discussions with State/INL officials, State/INL selected some unclassified examples of the indicators, which we included in our report. The purpose of this component of our review was to describe the nature and use of the Mexico data.

We conducted this performance audit from November 2018 to May 2020 in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence to provide a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives. We believe that

⁶Not all of these documents were available for all projects in our sample.

the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives.

Appendix II: Selected State/INL and USAID Mérida Initiative Projects Assessed against Key Monitoring Practices

This appendix provides a list of the 15 Department of State (State), Bureau of International Narcotics and Law Enforcement Affairs (State/INL) Mérida Initiative projects, and five United States Agency for International Development (USAID) Mérida Initiative projects selected for our review. We assessed State/INL and USAID monitoring of these projects against key monitoring practices as described in appendix I. The subset of these projects (four State/INL and two USAID) selected for our analysis of the agencies' tracking of performance data is noted below. State/INL provided the details in table 6, and USAID provided the details in table 7.

Table 6: Selected State, Bureau of International Narcotics and Law Enforcement Affairs (State/INL) Mérida Initiative Projects

| Project name | Type of implementing mechanism | State/INL Mérida Initiative line of effort | U.S. funding amount (\$) | Period of performance |
|---|---|---|-----------------------------|---------------------------|
| Forensics Laboratory Assistance ^a | Interagency agreement | Advance criminal justice | 33,685,167 | 9/16/2016- 9/30/2019 |
| Mexico Transition to the Accusatory Justice System | Interagency agreement | Advance criminal justice | 12,999,999 | 9/29/2014- 9/30/2017 |
| Police Professionalization Exchange Program ^a | Grant | Police professionalization | 7,771,747 | 8/5/2016- 3/31/2020 |
| Mexico Police Instructor Training Program | Contract | Police professionalization | 6,212,803 | 9/30/2015- 09/29/19 |
| Mexico Police Training Support Services | Contract | Police professionalization | 4,585,768 | 3/10/2014- 3/10/2015 |
| Citizen Trust and Evidence-Based Police Accountability and Professionalization in Mexico ^a | Grant | Police professionalization | 4,421,066 | 5/17/2016- 11/30/2020 |
| National Survey on Standards, Trainings, and Police Professionalization ^a | Letter of Agreement with international organization | Police professionalization | 3,782,700 | 11/18/2016- 12/31/2019 |
| Expand Drug Treatment Courts | Letter of Agreement with international organization | Counternarcotics | 2,500,000 | 5/30/2014- 5/29/2017 |
| Development and Implementation of a Mexico Anti-Drug Community Coalitions Model | Grant | Counternarcotics | 2,499,504 | 8/5/2016- 7/31/2018 |
| Enhance Correctional Training Capacity | Grant | Advance criminal justice | 2,414,583 | 11/22/2016- 11/30/2018 |
| Training Courses For Mexican Agencies Sponsored by the Antiterrorism Assistance Program | Contract | Police professionalization | 1,892,115 | 5/1/2014- 4/30/2016 |
| Mexico Aviation Maintenance Trainings | Interagency agreement | Counternarcotics | 1,750,007 | 10/1/2015- 9/30/2016 |

| Project name | Type of implementing mechanism | State/INL Mérida Initiative line of effort | U.S. funding amount (\$) | Period of performance |
|------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|---|-----------------------------|--------------------------|
| Training Program for Pilot Courses | Interagency agreement | Counternarcotics | 1,517,702 | 10/1/2016- 9/30/2017 |
| Police Training | Interagency agreement | Police professionalization | 1,299,454 | 2/2/2015- 9/30/2016 |
| Southern Border Mentors | Interagency agreement | Border and port security | 708,433 | 6/15/2015- 12/31/2016 |

Source: State/INL GAO-20-388.

^aProject selected for our analysis of the Department of State's tracking of performance data. State/INL provided the information in this table; we did not independently review each contract, grant, interagency agreement, and letter of agreement.

Table 7: Selected United States Agency for International Development (USAID) Mérida Initiative Projects

| Project name | Type of implementing mechanism | USAID development objective | U.S. funding amount (\$) | Period of performance |
|--|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|-----------------------------|--------------------------|
| Mexico Promoting Justice Reform ^a | Contract | Rule of law | 68,255,703 | 7/16/14- 10/15/19 |
| Juntos Para la Prevención de la Violencia | Contract | Crime and violence prevention | 24,465,000 | 10/30/15- 10/29/20 |
| Human Rights Public Policy Activity ^a | Grant/Cooperative agreement | Human rights | 10,675,685 | 10/30/15- 10/29/20 |
| Schools Building Peace in Mexico | Grant/Cooperative agreement | Crime and violence prevention | 2,076,807 | 10/30/15- 10/29/18 |
| Dialogue on Journalists' Protection | Grant/Cooperative agreement | Human rights | 1,517,220 | 10/30/15- 6/29/18 |

Source: USAID. GAO-20-388

^aProject selected for our analysis of USAID's tracking of performance data. USAID provided the data in this table; we did not independently review each contract, grant, and cooperative agreement.

Appendix III: Comments from the Department of State

| | S Contraction | United States Department of State |
|---|--|---|
| | A CARDINA | Comptroller |
| | the second s | Washington, DC 20520 |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | Thomas Melito | |
| | Managing Director | APR 2 1 2020 |
| | International Affairs and Tra | de |
| | Government Accountability | Office |
| | 441 G Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20548-000 | 21 |
| | washington, D.C. 20348-000 | |
| | - | |
| | Dear Mr. Melito: | |
| | W/a annual (1 | |
| | "ILS ASSISTANCE TO ME | ortunity to review your draft correspondence, |
| | Monitoring of Marida Initiati | EXICO: State Department Could Improve Its |
| 3 | Wiender mit of Wiender Initiati | ve Projects." GAO Job Code 103103. |
| | The enclosed Departme | ent of State comments are provided for |
| | incorporation with this letter a | as an appendix to the final report. |
| | | and appoint to the initial report. |
| | | |
| | | Sincerely, |
| | | |
| | | Julian a |
| | | Japong C. Mon |
| | | Jeffrey C. Mounts (Acting) |
| | | seriely c. would's (Acting) |
| | Enclosure: | |
| | As stated | |
| | | |
| | cc: GAO – Chelsea Gurkin | |
| | INL – James Walsh OIG - Norman Brown | |
| | OIG - Norman Brown | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |



Appendix IV: Comments from the U.S. Agency for International Development



I am transmitting this letter and the enclosed comments from USAID for inclusion in the GAO's final report. Thank you for the opportunity to respond to the draft report, as well as initial findings, and for the courtesies extended by your staff while conducting this engagement. Sincerely, Frederick M. Nutt Frederick M. Nutt Assistant Administrator Bureau for Management Enclosure: a/s





Appendix V: GAO Staff Acknowledgments

| GAO Contact | Chelsa Kenney Gurkin, (202) 512-2964, GurkinC@gao.gov |
|--------------------------|---|
| Staff Acknowledgments | In addition to the contact named above, James Michels (Assistant Director), Francisco Enriquez (Analyst-in-Charge), Terry Allen, Ashley Alley, Lilia Chaidez, Martin De Alteriis, Neil Doherty, Teresa Heger, John Hussey, and Andrew Kincare made key contributions to this report. |

| GAO's Mission | The Government Accountability Office, the audit, evaluation, and investigative arm of Congress, exists to support Congress in meeting its constitutional responsibilities and to help improve the performance and accountability of the federal government for the American people. GAO examines the use of public funds; evaluates federal programs and policies; and provides analyses, recommendations, and other assistance to help Congress make informed oversight, policy, and funding decisions. GAO's commitment to good government is reflected in its core values of accountability, integrity, and reliability. |
|---|--|
| Obtaining Copies of GAO Reports and Testimony | The fastest and easiest way to obtain copies of GAO documents at no cost is through our website. Each weekday afternoon, GAO posts on its website newly released reports, testimony, and correspondence. You can also subscribe to GAO's email updates to receive notification of newly posted products. |
| Order by Phone | The price of each GAO publication reflects GAO's actual cost of production and distribution and depends on the number of pages in the publication and whether the publication is printed in color or black and white. Pricing and ordering information is posted on GAO's website, https://www.gao.gov/ordering.htm. |
| | Place orders by calling (202) 512-6000, toll free (866) 801-7077, or TDD (202) 512-2537. |
| | Orders may be paid for using American Express, Discover Card, MasterCard, Visa, check, or money order. Call for additional information. |
| Connect with GAO | Connect with GAO on Facebook, Flickr, Twitter, and YouTube. Subscribe to our RSS Feeds or Email Updates. Listen to our Podcasts. Visit GAO on the web at https://www.gao.gov. |
| To Report Fraud, | Contact FraudNet: |
| Waste, and Abuse in | Website: https://www.gao.gov/fraudnet/fraudnet.htm |
| Federal Programs | Automated answering system: (800) 424-5454 or (202) 512-7700 |
| Congressional Relations | Orice Williams Brown, Managing Director, WilliamsO@gao.gov, (202) 512-4400, U.S. Government Accountability Office, 441 G Street NW, Room 7125, Washington, DC 20548 |
| Public Affairs | Chuck Young, Managing Director, youngc1@gao.gov, (202) 512-4800 U.S. Government Accountability Office, 441 G Street NW, Room 7149 Washington, DC 20548 |
| Strategic Planning and External Liaison | James-Christian Blockwood, Managing Director, spel@gao.gov, (202) 512-4707 U.S. Government Accountability Office, 441 G Street NW, Room 7814, Washington, DC 20548 |